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1 Summary  
Planning consent has been granted to redevelop and convert a small group of disused 

farm buildings at Middle Penpethy, Tintagel to residential use. These proposals 

prompted an historic building record to be carried out in advance of the works. 

The range of buildings comprises a two-storey barn with a shippon beneath (Building 

1), an adjoining single-storey animal shelter (Building 2), plus another single-storey 

structure (Building 3) that was added to the range later on. Map evidence reveals that 

Buildings 1 and 2 were in existence when the Tithe map was surveyed in the earlier 

19th century. Building 3 had been constructed by c1907. 

All the buildings are of constructed of finely jointed slate masonry, typical of the 

vernacular building style of the area around Tintagel. Their roofs, (now unfortunately 

mostly lost), were covered with the large rag slates that were obtained locally. Middle 

Penpethy lies on farmland inland and upslope from the former Prince of Wales slate 

quarry. It is also only a few miles northeast of the famous large slate quarry at 

Delabole. 
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Fig 1 Location map 

 

Fig 2 Site extent 
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2 Introduction 

2.1 Project background 

Planning consent has been granted by Cornwall Council to convert a small group of 

farm buildings at Middle Penpethy, Tintagel to residential use (planning ref 

E1/2010/00672) (Figs 1 and 2). These buildings have been disused for many years and 

are currently in ruinous condition. Planning conditions have been imposed on the 

consent and Condition 11 relates to the historic environment (see Appendix 1). 

Although the local planners did not supply a brief, a Written Scheme of Investigation 

(WSI) was prepared by Archaeological and Planning Solutions, on behalf of Peter 

Wonnacott Planning. Phil Copleston, the Historic Environment Planning Advice Officer 

has approved this WSI. 

Peter Wonnacott Planning approached Historic Environment Projects with a view to 

satisfying the planning condition. A method statement (see Appendix 2) was provided 

and following agreement of a schedule of costs the project was commenced. 

2.2 Aims 

The principal aim of the work is to gain an understanding of the origins and historic 

development of the buildings. The objectives are to provide a lasting record of the 

structures in advance of their conversion. This is in the form of a Level 2 historic 

building record, as defined by English Heritage (2006).  

2.3 Methods 

The detail of the working methods is set out in Appendices 1 and 2. Three stages of 

work were undertaken comprising desk-based research, a site visit and archiving and 

presentation of the results. 

2.3.1 Desk–based assessment 

Rapid desk-based research was carried out to inform the fieldwork stage. The main 

sources of information consulted were as follows: 

 Cornwall HER, including place-name evidence 

 Web searches 

 Early maps (1809 One Inch OS mapping, 1841 Tithe Survey, First and 

Second Editions of the OS 25 Inch Survey of c1880 and c1907)  

 Modern mapping  

 Air photographs (held by the HER, CC and Google Earth) 

2.3.2 Fieldwork 

A site visit was carried out in June 2013. The buildings were photographed using a 

Pentax 35mm film camera and a Canon Digital SLR camera (with a resolution of 8 

million pixels).  Descriptive information was added to copies of measured plans and 

elevations provided by Peter Wonnacott Planning. Some measured detail was also 

added to these drawings. 

2.3.3 Post-fieldwork 

Following the fieldwork the results were processed and the materials suitably archived. 

A professional laboratory processed the film photographs and these were subsequently 

stored according to Historic Environment standards. The digital photographs were 

downloaded onto Cornwall Council’s computer network and edited where necessary 

using Adobe PhotoShop software. A selection of these appears in this report. Drawings 

were annotated and finalised using AutoCAD software. This report was compiled to 

summarise the results. 
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3 Location and setting 
The hamlet of Penpethy is now situated in the modern civil parish of Tintagel but was 

formerly in part of Lanteglos-by-Camelford (Figs 1 and 2). The principal settlement lies 

in the higher end of a stream valley, which flows westwards towards Trewarmett and 

Trebarwith Strand. Middle Penpethy farm is located on higher cultivated ground to the 

south of the main settlement. This farm has a northern aspect but has some limited 

shelter from rising ground to the south. The subject buildings are located at NGR SX 

08302 85891 and lie on the 240m OD contour. 

In terms of historic landscape character the farm appears to be in Recently Enclosed 

Land (land enclosed since the medieval period from former rough ground), being a 

small farmhouse set in fields with predominantly straight hedges (Fig 19) and with its 

principal buildings and yard sited over 100m upslope to the southwest. 

Geologically Penpethy lies on undifferentiated Upper Devonian mudstone, siltstone and 

sandstone. The settlement is strongly associated with the local slate quarrying industry 

and many of its houses are former quarrying families’ accommodation. The fine quality 

slate is also predominant in the local vernacular buildings, including the older farm 

buildings at Middle Penpethy. 

 

4 Designations 

4.1 National 

No national conservation designations appear to apply to Penpethy. 

4.2 Regional/county 

Penpethy lies within the North Cornwall Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 

and is also part of the Heritage Coast. 

4.3 Local 

No local conservation designations appear to apply to Penpethy. 

 

5 Site history 
The place-name of Penpethy is first recorded in 1296 when the name was spelt as 

‘Tympethy’ (Gover 1948, 68). The name is Cornish and appears to contain the element 

tyn (rump or bottom) and an unknown second part (Padel 1985, 217, 293). The 

settlement had become subdivided by 1426 when ‘Southeratynpeythi’ was documented. 

This name is likely to relate to Middle Penpethy as it is due south of the main hamlet. 

The present Middle Penpethy farmhouse is a cottage probably dating to the 18th or 

early 19th century.  

The subject building range is first shown on the Lanteglos-by-Camelford Tithe Map 

surveyed in 1841 (Fig 3). The First Edition 25 Inch OS map shows that the buildings 

faced a small yard on the north side and another square enclosure to the south was 

probably a mowhay (rickyard) (Fig 4). By c1907 the building range had been extended 

westwards towards the hedge with the addition of Building 3 (Fig 5). Another small 

rectangular building had also been added on the south side of the approach lane.  

In more recent times corrugated iron sheds have been built adjoining the older stone 

buildings; these are now disused and in collapsing condition. The building adjacent to 

the lane mapped in c1907 is no longer extant. Pole barns immediately south of the 

older range and a larger agricultural building in the enclosure to the southeast are the 

modern replacements for the older structures (Fig 6).  
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6 Building description 

6.1 General layout 

(please see Figs 21 and 22 for elevations, plans and sections) 

The three subject buildings form a small east-west oriented range with Building 1 at its 

centre. The principal ground floor doorways (for livestock access) face northwards onto 

the area of yard mapped in the later 19th century. This space is now a rectangular 

concreted area, with a corrugated shed on the northwest side.  

6.2 Building 1 

(Figs 8-11) 

6.2.1 Plan-form 

Building 1 is a two-storey rectangular structure, with a shippon on the ground floor and 

a separate loft above. Its roof and upper floor have tumbled in, making most parts of 

the building unsafe to enter. 

On the ground floor two doorways in the north wall (one at each end) provided access 

for livestock. Interestingly the western doorway is lower/smaller, perhaps designed for 

pigs or sheep, whilst the other doorway was for cattle. A feeding passage runs along 

the length (and to the rear) of the building with doorways at either end; the interior 

has remains of concrete cow stalls towards the eastern end. 

A single ventilation slit exists in the south wall towards the western end (i.e. behind the 

feed passage). A ground floor window in the north wall appears be an insertion, or may 

represent widening of an earlier slit ventilator.  

Although the upper floor has long collapsed its layout appears to have been simple with 

opposing loading doorways in the north and south (long) walls and a single window in 

the north wall. As the fields around the site are unlikely to have been used for cereal 

production, it seems likely that the upper space served as a hay barn.  

The loft space is entered by a flight of external steps on the south side. This projection 

is shown as a small square when mapped c1880. 

In more recent years a concrete block-work extension has been built adjoining the 

southeast corner, between the angle of the loft steps and the corner of the main 

building. This building, although roofless and full of slate debris, still contains an electric 

motor and a belt drive to former milking machinery. 

6.2.2 Materials 

The masonry in Building 1 is finely jointed semi-coursed slate rubble, bedded in lime 

mortar. Blocked putlog holes for scaffolding can be seen at the upper floor level. 

Although its walls appear sound the building was in very poor condition when visited as 

the roof and upper floor had long since tumbled in. The floor and surroundings were 

littered with fallen roof slates. 

Building 1 has no gable ends and originally had a roof that was hipped at both ends, 

probably to reduce wind resistance in this upland location. The roof structure was 

simple nailed A-frames supporting purlins, rafters and a covering of rag slates. 

Some fallen floor joists remain; these once supported a wooden upper floor. Fragments 

of a rough timber skirting for the upper floor are still in place.  

The only walls that have traces of finishes are within the spaces for animals on the 

ground floor (the feeding passage has bare masonry). It appears that the white painted 

mortar is a later addition, probably to comply with animal hygiene regulations. 
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6.3 Building 2 

(Figs 12-15) 

6.3.1 Plan-form 

Building 2 is a single storey rectangular structure, slightly longer in plan than Building 1 

but a little narrower. The only original access is at the west end where there are two 

opposing doorways, one facing the yard on the north side, and a widened doorway to 

the south. Originally this building had two windows in its north wall. One is extant but 

has been widened to the east side. The other window at the east end has been 

converted to a doorway. Two ventilator slits pierced the south wall; the westernmost 

one has since been blocked. 

The original north doorway facing the yard has interesting chamfer detail, and an 

angled granite step forming the threshold has wedge marks. The doorway itself has 

since been in-filled with concrete block-work. 

The building’s interior has been subdivided in more recent years with a concrete block 

wall. The eastern end now serves as a sheep shelter (with the floor in-filled with a deep 

layer of dung) while the western part has been rendered inside and a board ceiling 

added, for use as part of a milking parlour/dairy. A wide concrete block shelf, with a 

slate flagstone top, is extant adjoining the south wall. 

6.3.2 Materials 

Like Building 1, this structure is also of finely jointed slate masonry, bedded in lime 

mortar. The roof is still partly extant; it has small simple A-frame trusses supporting a 

rag slate covering. The original hipped east end survives. A portion of the roof on the 

south side has been replaced with corrugated sheeting. The rag slated covering 

originally adjoining Building 1 has collapsed. On the north side the roofline once 

extended forward slightly to cover the angled entrance doorway. 

6.4 Building 3 

(Figs 16-17) 

6.4.1 Plan-form 

Building 3 has an almost square plan and clearly abuts the west end of Building 1. The 

only original openings are two small ventilators/windows under the roofline close to the 

northeast corner. Unlike the other buildings in the range this has its original doorway in 

the south wall. This doorway has been narrowed by insertion of a pier of block-work. 

The only other doorway is a connection to the feeding passage in Building 1. 

Building 3 now has remains of a pair of more modern animal pens built from concrete 

blocks. There is no trace of the original layout; it may have been a simple loose box or 

more likely a feed house. 

6.4.2 Materials 

Building 3 is built of finely jointed semi-coursed bluish slate rubble. Several of the 

stones on the interior face have stone saw marks, typical of more recent slate quarried 

around Tintagel. 

This building has also lost its roof; the roof was different from the two earlier buildings 

in that it had a gable at the west end. 

 

7 Chronology/dating evidence 
Evidence from historic maps provides broad time brackets for the origins of the 

buildings. Buildings 1 and 2 were in existence before the Tithe map was surveyed in 

1841. Building 3 was developed sometime between c1880 and c1907. The structural 

evidence has not improved the dating. The only dateable feature that has been located 

is the wedge-marked granite threshold on the north side of Building 2. The quarrying 
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marks on this stone indicate that it was sourced before 1800 (the approximate date 

when invention of tare-and-feather granite splitting superseded wedge splitting). It is 

possible, however that this stone was reused by the time it was incorporated into the 

construction of Building 2. The general style of the buildings suggests they were built in 

the first decades of the 19th century, and may therefore be approximately 

contemporary with Middle Penpethy farmhouse.  

 

8 Significance 
These buildings strongly represent a local vernacular style, particularly in their fine 

slate masonry, which is typical of the area around Tintagel and Trebarwith. 

Construction of the building range appears to represent an episode of investment in the 

agriculture of the area. This probably reflects the economy of the time, as there would 

have been a need to intensify farming to feed the growing industrial population in and 

around Tintagel. 
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Fig 3 Extract from the Lanteglos-by-Camelford Tithe map, surveyed 1841 

 

Fig 4 First Edition of the Ordnance Survey 25 Inch Map, c1880 

The subject buildings are within plot 54, with the farmhouse sited downslope within plot 

57 



Middle Penpethy farm buildings historic building record 

 

 10 

 

Fig 5 Second Edition of the Ordnance Survey 25 Inch Map, c1907 

 

Fig 6 Air photograph of Middle Penpethy, taken in 2005  

The subject building range is highlighted 
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Fig 7 View of the farm buildings from the southwest 

 

 

Fig 8 Building 1, viewed from the southwest 
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Fig 9 The north side of Building 1 

 

 

Fig 10 Buildings 1 and 2, viewed from the northeast 
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Fig 11 Interior (ground floor) of Building 1, showing concrete stalls and collapsed floor 

and roof timbers 

 

Fig 12 Building 2 viewed from the north 
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Fig 13 Window in north wall of Building 2, widened to left side 

 

 

Fig 14 Doorway with chamfered slate jamb and granite threshold 
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Fig 15 Original slit ventilator in east end of Building 2 

 

Fig 16 Exterior of Building 3 viewed from the north, partially masked by collapsed 20th 

century sheds 
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Fig 17 Interior and gable wall of Building 3 

 

Fig 18 Slate divisions between stalls in 20th century shed adjoining Building 3 
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Fig 19 Context: Penpethy farmhouse, viewed from the farmyard 

 

Fig 20 Context: view of Delabole wind turbines from Penpethy farmstead
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Fig 21 Elevations of Penpethy farm buildings 

Original measured drawings kindly supplied by Peter Wonnacott Planning, with additions and annotation by HEP 
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Fig 22 Plans and sections of Penpethy farm buildings 

Original measured drawings kindly supplied by Peter Wonnacott Planning, with additions and annotation by HEP 
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Appendix 1: Written Scheme of Investigation  
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Appendix 2: Method Statement 
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